THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
The Honorable R. Knox McMahon

RECEIVED

MAR 16 2015

Appellate Case No. 2014-001258

SC Court of Appeals

Ricky Kneece,

Respondent,

v.

Kneece Farms and Legion in Liquidation
And the South Carolina Property and Casualty
Insurance Guaranty Association,

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS

Mark D. Cauthen, Esq.
Peter P. Leventis, IV, Esq.
McKay, Cauthen, Settana & Stuble, PA
1303 Blanding Street
Post Office Box 7212
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-7217
(803) 256-4645
Attorney for Employer/Carrier

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE CIRCUIT COURT MISSAPPLIED THE SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE STANDARD IN REVERSING THE FULL COMMISSION'S ORDER.
- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT INAPPROPRIATELY REVERSED THE FULL COMMISSION'S ORDER WHICH HAD FOUND THE CLAIMANT WAS NOT PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 42-9-10(C)
 - A. THE RESPONDENT DID NOT SUSTAIN A LOSS OF EARNING CAPACITY AND, THEREFORE, RESPONDENT IS NOT PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 42-9-10 OR § 42-9-20
 - B. THE RESPONDENT IS NOT ENTITLED TO A PRESUMPTION OF PERMANENT AND TOTAL DISABILITY
- III. THE "BENEVOLENT EMPLOYMENT" DOCTRINE DOES NOT APPLY TO THIS CASE AND SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN UTILIZED AS A BASIS FOR FINDING PERMANENT AND TOTAL DISABILITY
 - A. RESPONDENT'S WORK INJURY OCCURRED WHILE WORKING FOR KNEECE FARMS, A SEPARATE ENTITY FROM DELANO KNEECE & SON AND, THE BENEVOLENT EMPLOYMENT DOCTRINE HAS NO APPLICATION TO THIS CLAIM
 - B. RESPONDENT'S ARGUMENT THAT HIS BRAIN INJURY PREVENTS HIM FROM HANDLING THE FINANCES OF KNEECE & SON IS WITHOUT MERIT AND DOES NOT DEMONSTRATE THAT HIS EMPLOYMENT WITH KNEECE & SON IS BENEVOLENT
 - C. IF RESPONDENT WAS PROPERLY DEEMED PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED, THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN AWARDING TEMPORARY TOTAL DISABILITY BENEFITS FOR PERIODS PRIOR TO THE DATE OF MAXIMUM MEDICAL IMPROVEMENT
- IV.. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THAT THE CLAIMANT IS ENTITLED TO REIMBURSEMENT OF PAST MEDICAL EXPENSES FROM UNAUTHORIZED TREATMENT PROVIDERS AS WELL AS LIFETIME MEDICAL EXPENSES
- V. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE FULL COMMISSION AND HEARING COMMISSIONER'S FINDING AND CONCLUSION THAT RESPONDENT SUSTAINED COMPENSABLE INJURIES BY ACCIDENT TO HIS ZYGOMATIC ARCH, THYROID, SCARRING, AND FINGER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the Court of Appeals from an appeal of the decision of the Honorable R. Knox McMahon, which reversed the decision of the Full Commission of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. Appellants assert that, among other errors, that the Circuit Court incorrectly applied the substantial evidence standard in his review of the Full Commission Order.

The prior matter before the Court of Common Pleas addressed Petitions for Judicial Review submitted by both parties in response to the Order of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Appellate Panel dated April 19, 2012. The Defendants subsequently moved to alter or amend judgment on August 5, 2013. This motion was denied by Judge Knox McMahon on April 24, 2014. (R. p. 4).

Previously, this matter came before the Full Commission on September 20, 2011, on appeal from the Decision and Order of Commissioner Derrick L. Williams filed on April 28, 2011, by Kneece Farms, Legion Insurance Company in Liquidation, and The South Carolina Property and Casualty Insurance Guaranty Association (hereinafter "Defendants").

The Claimant/Respondent, Ricky D. Kneece (hereinafter "Claimant"), sustained compensable injuries on November 22, 1999, while working for Kneece Farms, which was owned by the Claimant's uncle, including injuries to his head/brain, left lower extremity and left upper extremity. The Defendants provided medical as well as indemnity benefits for the Claimant's work injuries.

At the time of the accident at Kneece Farms, the Claimant was also employed with Delano R. Kneece & Son Farms, Inc. (hereinafter "Delano Kneece & Son"), which is a family

farm that is owned and operated by Claimant and his father. The Claimant and his father farmed their own land while also working as sharecroppers on land owned by Kneece Farms. The Claimant never returned to employment with the Defendant Employer in this claim – Kneece Farms. However, he did return to full time employment with the family farming operation, Delano Kneece & Son Farms.

The Claimant returned to limited work duties with Delano R. Kneece & Son Farms within months of his accident and admitted, per a signed Form 17, that he was able to return to full time work with Delano Kneece & Son during 2005. (R. p. 1241).

The Claimant, per testimony during the hearing, has never been without his salary or wages as a result of his injuries. During the hearing, the Claimant's Wife, who is also the bookkeeper for Delano R. Kneece & Son Farms, Inc., testified that the Claimant's wages from the family farm for 2007 and 2009 were \$76,600.00 and \$77,600.00 respectively. (R. p. 482 lines 22-24). She also testified that these yearly amounts were over two times the amount of the Claimant's yearly salary at the time of the accident. (R. p. 483 lines 1-4).

On April 16, 2004, Claimant's treating physician for his left lower extremity, Dr. James O'Leary, released Claimant at maximum medical improvement (MMI) with a 10% impairment rating to his left lower extremity. (R. p. 998). The Claimant treated with Dr. Michael Green for his left upper extremity injury. Dr. Green released the claimant at MMI with a 17% impairment rating to his left upper extremity on September 23, 2004. (R. p. 946).

Accordingly, the Defendants filed a Form 21 Request to stop payment of temporary total disability (TTD) benefits. The hearing on Defendants' Form 21 was held on January 11, 2005, before Commissioner Childs. On April 18, 2005, Commissioner Childs issued her Decision and Order finding and concluding, in pertinent part, that: (1) Claimant sustained compensable

injuries to his brain/head, face, nasal passage, sinus, left eye, left knee, left shoulder, left elbow and depression; and (2) Claimant had not yet reached MMI all of those injuries. As a result, the hearing Commissioner ordered Defendants to provide additional medical treatment for injuries to the Claimant's left knee and shoulder, as well as treatment for Claimant's closed head injury, and depression with Dr. Randy Waid and Dr. Larry Bergmann. (R. pp. 104-107).

In addition, the Hearing Commissioner found that although the Claimant was earning wages from Kneece & Son during the same time period he was receiving TTD benefits from the Carrier, the Defendants were not allowed to receive an off-set or credit for those TTD benefits because the Claimant's wages were paid by a "collateral source." This "collateral source" was the salary Claimant earned at Kneece & Son. (R. p. 106).

The Defendants timely appealed this 2005 Decision and Order of Commissioner Childs. However, prior to the Full Commission Hearing on the matter the Claimant agreed to execute a Form 17 acknowledging that he was able to return to work at full duty as of October 4, 2005. (R. p. 1241). Accordingly, TTD payments were terminated as of October 4, 2005; Defendants provided Claimant with additional medical treatment for his closed head/brain injury, as well as the injuries to Claimant's left lower extremity (knee) and left upper extremity (shoulder) pursuant to the 2005 Order and the Agreement between the parties.

The Claimant was re-evaluated by Dr. Green on March 20, 2006. During this evaluation, the Claimant informed Dr. Green that he drove his tractor for long periods of time on his farm (Kneece & Son). (R. p. 1195). The Claimant's physical examination at this appointment was normal except for a "little bit of discomfort." Dr. Green opined at that time that the claimant was able to *work full duty* as of March 20, 2006. (R. p. 1195).

The Claimant was also evaluated by Dr. Randy Waid for his closed head injury. In his report of February 8, 2007, Dr. Waid indicated that the Claimant continued to “demonstrate mild executive dysfunction both with regard to cognitive and emotional/psychological functioning.” He also noted that the Claimant continued to be employed on his family farm. On February 8, 2007, Dr. Waid released the Claimant at MMI with a 22% impairment rating to the whole person for this injury. The Claimant had previously been released at MMI with regard to his left upper and left lower extremity in 2004, as stated above. (R. pp. 862-868).

On May 14, 2008, the Claimant underwent a neurological examination with Dr. Julian Adams of the South Carolina Neurological Clinic. Dr. Adams diagnosed Claimant with a “mild to moderate head injury with a contusion to his right frontal lobe” and he found the Claimant’s examination to be “absolutely normal.” (R. p. 1219). Dr. Adams subsequently ordered an electroencephalogram (EEG) test to measure brain electrical activity which was also normal. (R. p. 1222). Consequently, no further treatment was recommended by Dr. Adams.

Following that 2008 evaluation with Dr. Adams, neither Claimant nor his attorney ever made any demand or request for any additional medical treatment other than a request that Claimant be allowed to continue his psychological treatment with Dr. Bergmann and Dr. Deal, which the Defendants authorized. However, in March of 2010, the Claimant decided to seek additional medical treatment on his own without any notice to Defendants with Dr. Charles Shissias of Lowcountry Medical Group in Beaufort.

Following the commencement of unauthorized treatment with Dr. Shissias, Claimant filed a Form 50 on July 9, 2010, requesting additional medical treatment, as well as an award of

permanent and total disability based upon a general disability/loss of earning capacity pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10. (R. p. 386).

This Form 50 hearing request was Claimant's first such request since before the hearing in front Commissioner Childs in 2005. This was also the first notice to Defendants that: (1) The Claimant was alleging he was permanently and totally disabled as a result of a loss of earning capacity under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10; (2) That the Claimant had been receiving treatment from Dr. Shissias; and (3) That the Claimant intended to rely upon the opinions of the unauthorized physician, Dr. Shissias, as well as Claimant's own vocational expert, William Stewart, to establish his claim for permanent and total disability. The Defendants answered Claimant's Form 50, denying he was entitled to an award of permanent and total disability under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10, or any other provision of the Workers' Compensation Act. (R. p. 384).

A hearing on the Forms 50 and 51, which ultimately give rise to this appeal, was originally scheduled before Commissioner Williams on October 4, 2010; however, the parties agreed to mediate this claim. Mediation was held on November 29, 2010, but was unsuccessful. Following mediation, Defendants sought to obtain evaluations with a neuropsychologist, a neurologist, and a vocational specialist to address the new and updated opinions of Claimant's experts, specifically with regard to any ongoing neurological issues or deficits.

On December 7, 2010, counsel for the Defendants notified Claimant's counsel of a neuropsychological evaluation appointment set for January 4, 2011, with Dr. Tora Brawley of the University of South Carolina Specialty Clinics, Department of Neuropsychiatry and Behavioral Science (R. p. 1349). Subsequently, Defendants received correspondence from Claimant's attorney to Dr. Brawley indicating that he was refusing to allow Claimant to attend

the scheduled appointment with Dr. Brawley. (R. p. 1351). The Defendants kept the appointment scheduled; however, the Claimant failed to participate or attend this evaluation.

On December 14, 2010, Counsel for the Defendants requested, via written correspondence to Claimant's attorney, dates that Claimant was available to meet with Defendants' vocational expert, Cynthia P. Grimley. (R. p. 1354). In addition, Ms. Grimley separately phoned and wrote to Claimant's counsel requesting available dates for the interview for the vocational evaluation. Although Claimant's counsel indicated he spoke with Ms. Grimley in December and was "checking her references," he subsequently advised that he would not agree to make the Claimant available for a vocational evaluation with the Defendants' expert.

Finally, on January 21, 2011, counsel for the Defendants notified the Claimant's counsel of a neurological examination scheduled for the Claimant with Dr. Ben Bashinski of Neurological Associates of Augusta, Georgia, for February 4, 2011 (R. p. 1359). The Defendants offered to provide transportation for the Claimant to this appointment if needed. However, Claimant's counsel responded by letter dated January 24, 2011, that the Claimant would not submit to the neurological evaluation with Dr. Bashinski. (R. p. 1360).

On January 26, 2011, the Defendants moved for an Order compelling the Claimant to attend and cooperate with the examinations to be conducted by the Defendants' neurologist, neuropsychologist and vocational rehabilitation expert as set forth above. (R. p. 361, Motion to Compel dated January 26, 2011). The Defendants also requested an Order suspending Claimant's right to further benefits and cancelling the hearing that had been scheduled for February 14, 2011, due to the Claimant's noncompliance with S.C. Code Ann. § 42-15-80 permitting an independent medical evaluation by the Defendants. On February 2, 2011, the Defendants' Motion to Compel the medical and vocational evaluations and to postpone the

hearing was denied by a Form Order of the Commission without explanation. (R. p. 93). However, prior to the hearing, the Claimant complied with the neuropsychological evaluation with Dr. Brawley and this was performed on January 28, 2011. In her report, Dr. Brawley was essentially in agreement with Dr. Waid that the Claimant had experienced a “mild residual brain dysfunction as a result of his accident.” (R. pp. 1237 - 1239, Dr. Brawley report, dated February 11, 2011).

At the Hearing on February 14, 2011, Defendants renewed their Motion to compel discovery and the medical evaluation, and also to postpone the hearing. At that time the Defendants also objected to the introduction of various records reflecting certain expenditures submitted by Claimant through his APA submissions. (R. pp. 1093 and 1094). The Defendants’ objection to the introduction of this evidence as well as their ‘Motion to Compel and Postpone the Hearing’ were each denied by the hearing Commissioner. Specifically, the Hearing Commissioner stated that these evaluations could have been performed prior to the Hearing; however, no finding or disposition was made with regard to the Motion to Compel in the hearing Commissioner’s Order.

At the Hearing on February 14, 2011, the Claimant asserted that he was entitled to permanent and total disability benefits as a result of a physical brain injury pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10. It was the position of the Defendants that the Claimant had not sustained a loss of earning capacity and that Claimant was not permanently and totally disabled. However, both parties agreed the Claimant was at MMI for all injuries.

On April 28, 2011, Commissioner Derrick L. Williams issued his Decision and Order, finding and concluding in pertinent part, that:

1. The job and work offered by Claimant’s family farm, Delano R. Kneece & Son, Inc., is sheltered employment and benevolent in nature and the accommodations made by

Claimant's family that enabled Claimant to perform certain limited services for Delano R. Kneece & Son, Inc., is not evidence that a reasonably stable market exists for the services Claimant provides for the family farm.

2. The amounts paid the Claimant by Delano R. Kneece & Son, Inc. are not intended to represent wages earned and the amount is not calculated on the basis of services performed by Claimant. Instead, those amounts paid to the Claimant are in the nature of a gift and do not constitute wages. Additionally, that Claimant was entitled to weekly compensation for all previously unpaid weeks (despite earning significantly more yearly income from his employer than he received at the time of his accident).
3. The Claimant is permanently and totally disabled in terms of performing his past job as a farmer/owner/operator of a farm supply and farming operation, or any other kind of job or gainful employment on a reliable, sustained basis in accordance with the opinion of Dr. Stewart and, therefore, the Claimant is unable to perform services other than those that are so limited in quality, dependability, and quantity that a reasonable stable market for them does not exist.
4. That the Claimant sustained injuries to the brain/head, nasal passage, sinus, left eye, left knee, left shoulder, left elbow (left upper and lower extremities), finger, zygomatic arch, thyroid, scarring, teeth, and psychological.
5. The Claimant is permanently and totally disabled, with a physical brain injury, pursuant to §42-9-10, and is entitled to lifetime benefits in terms of weekly compensation and medical treatment.
6. The Defendants have failed to pay for all medications prescribed by Claimant's physicians, to include Drs. Deal, Wicker, Shissias, and Ugino.
7. The Claimant will benefit from future treatment and Defendants are ordered to pay for those medications for all causally related injuries.
8. The Claimant has accumulated mileage of 3,658 for which he is entitled to reimbursement, (despite failing to submit any prior requests for over ten years of treatment).
9. The Claimant has accumulated charges of \$14,010.77 in prescriptive medications for which he is entitled to reimbursement.

(R. pp. 84-91).

Based upon the Hearing Commissioner's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the Defendants were ordered to pay Claimant weekly compensation in the amount of \$461.67 from

November 22, 1999, to the present and continuing for Claimant's lifetime, with a credit for 157 ¹/₇ weeks of weekly compensation already paid to Claimant.

In addition, the Defendants were ordered to provide Claimant lifetime medical treatment for his compensable injuries to be directed by Drs. Bergmann, Deal, Shissias, Wicker and Ugino, as well as reimbursement for all causally related medical expenses incurred up to that date, including reimbursement for all prescription medication and mileage listed by Claimant in his Exhibits.

From this Decision and Order issued by Commissioner Williams, the Defendants timely filed a Form 30 Request for Review to the Appellate Panel of the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission, raising 39 Grounds for Review. (R. p. 349). The Defendants' appeal was heard by the Full Commission on September 20, 2011.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-17-50 (1985), the Appellate Panel reviewed the Award and weighed the evidence as presented at the initial hearing, finding good grounds to reverse and remand the prior Order on grounds that Claimant was not permanently and totally disabled with accompanying physical brain damage. (R. p. 47, SCWCC Appellate Panel Order dated April 19, 2012). Puzzlingly, the Full Commission signed a proposed Order submitted by Claimant's Counsel without removing or amending the multitude of Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that conflicted with the Panel's primary holding, which reversed the single Commissioner's original finding of permanent total disability.

Subsequently, both parties timely appealed the Order of the Full Commission for the reasons outlined below and in their respective Petitions for Review to the Circuit Court of Lexington County. (R. pp. 214; 225, Notice of Intent to Appeal dated May 18, 2012; Petition for Judicial Review dated May 21, 2012). Judge Knox McMahon reversed the holdings and

conclusions of the Appellate Panel of the full Commission, reinstating the holdings of the single Commissioner, and finding that the Claimant was permanently totally disabled with a physical brain injury, and therefore entitled to life time medical and indemnity benefits associated with this claim. (R. pp. 21-46). These Defendants filed a Rule 59(e) motion for rehearing, which was denied on April 24, 2014. This appeal by the Defendants to the Court of Appeals follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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