THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

---

Common Pleas Case No. 2012-CP-32-02093  
Common Pleas Case No. 2012-CP-32-02111  
Appellate Case No. 2014-001258

---

Ricky Kneece,

Respondent

v.

Kneece Farms and Legion in  
Liquidation and South Carolina  
Property and Casualty Insurance  
Guaranty Association,

Appellants

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
RICKY KNEECE**

---

**RECEIVED**

DEC 03 2014

**SC Court of Appeals**

Scott Elliott  
Attorney for Respondent  
Elliott & Elliott, P.A.  
1508 Lady Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
Telephone: 803-771-0555

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

Under the Court's decision in Crisp v. SouthCo. Inc., to be compensable under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10(C), the physical brain damage must be severe so as to pose a hindrance or obstacle to obtaining employment or obtaining reemployment should the employee become unemployed. The Respondent's permanent and severe physical brain damage interferes with his abilities to operate farm equipment safely and reliably operate the family farm. The Respondent now functions in the low average IQ range and has no formal education beyond high school. Farming is all the Respondent knows. The Respondent's family has purchased farming equipment which accommodates the Respondent's disabilities. The Respondent's family has

hired farm hands to assist the Respondent with his chores and to perform the Respondent's chores. The Respondent's father has eliminated his income from the farm to free up funds with which to pay the Respondent. The Respondent's son now works on the farm and performs much of the Respondent's former responsibilities. The family has managed its farming practices to maximize the farm's income while permitting the Respondent the opportunity to work around the farm. The Respondent can no longer manage the farm's financial affairs and without his wife, Respondent would need a legal guardian to manage his affairs.

Dr. Stewart, a Board Certified Rehabilitation Counselor and Board Certified Vocational Evaluator, concluded that the Respondent has suffered a complete loss of earning capacity because of his injuries. Dr. Stewart recognized that the Respondent enjoyed a "benevolent and sheltered employment situation," and opined that, "[i]n an open, competitive labor market [the Respondent] would find himself vocationally disabled and unable to work gainfully." (Claimant's APA 1). The impact of the Respondent's injuries is best described by Dr. Stewart who stated that the Respondent's:

...mental, emotional and physical problems and limitations and the combination of those mental/cognitive, emotional and physical conditions and the findings and opinions contained in the medical/neurological/psychiatric/professional/trauma counseling records, the number of years/length of time his problems and limitations have continued, the multiple prescribed medication he continues to have to take, the deterioration in his overall ability to work and be productive and need for help from others, and Dr. Shissias' statement concerning '...He is unable to make major decisions without input from wife, his primary caregiver. Believe that without her, he would require legal guardian or payee to manage his affairs....' (Claimant's APA 1)

The Respondent's wife who also performs chores on the farm, including that of the farm bookkeeper, testified that because of Respondent's disabilities he would be unable to compete in an open job market. In fact the family farm would not hire a farm hand with Respondent's disabilities. No farming operation would go to the cost and expense of providing work

accommodations for a farm hand such as the Respondent. Her testimony is consistent with that of Dr. Stewart.

Based on the foregoing, the substantial evidence of record reflects that the Respondent suffered a complete loss of earning capacity and the Full Commission so held. As a consequence of the Respondent's loss of earning capacity, his permanent and severe physical brain damage in and of itself is totally disabling and , he is entitled to lifetime benefits under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10(C) in addition to all other benefits under the Act. Crisp v. Southco, Inc.; Wigfall v. Tidelands Utilities, Inc., *supra*.

Based on the evidence of record as a whole, the only inference to be drawn from the evidence of record supports the finding that the Respondent suffered permanent and severe physical brain damage as concluded by the Circuit Court.

Under Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc., the Respondent may demonstrate total disability through multiple physical injuries. Under this scenario, a Respondent who has a S. C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 scheduled injury must show an additional injury. Singleton v. Young Lumber Company and Granite State Fire Insurance Company, 236 S. C. 454, 114 S.E.2d 837 (Ct. App. 1960); see also McCollum v. Singer Co., 300 S.C. 103, 386 S.E.2d 471 (Ct. App. 1989) [Court found Respondent totally disabled due to combined partial impairments to the back, stomach and leg].

In addition to permanent and severe physical brain damage, the Respondent suffered extensive injuries to his left upper and lower extremities, head and face. After two surgeries to his left arm and elbow, Dr. Michael Green assigned a 17% impairment to the Respondent's upper left extremity. After two surgeries to Respondent's left knee, Dr. James O'Leary assigned a 10% impairment rating to the Respondent's lower left extremity. It is undisputed that the

Respondent's physical brain damage was disabling. The Respondent's permanent and severe physical brain damage has caused him memory loss, depression, irritability, chronic daily headaches, mood swings, loss of sleep and dizziness. The Respondent's mental and emotional deficits cause him difficulties in coping with everyday life. After his psychological testing, Dr. Waid assigned a 22% whole person impairment to the Respondent for his injuries and Dr. Bergmann assigned an 11% impairment to the Respondent for the injuries for which he and Dr. Deal treated the Respondent.

The Respondent's injuries to his left upper extremity and his left lower extremity are S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 schedule injuries. The Respondent's schedule injuries in combination with each other and the Respondent's non-schedule injuries are likewise totally disabling. Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc., supra. Because the Respondent's severe and permanent physical brain damage combines with the Respondent's other injuries and characteristics to totally and permanently disable him under the Act, he is entitled to lifetime benefits under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10(C) in addition to all other benefits under the Act.

For the foregoing reasons, it is clear that based on the reliable, probative and substantial evidence of record, the Respondent is totally and permanently disabled with physical brain damage and entitled to benefits provided for in S. C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10. Crisp v. SouthCo., Inc.; Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc., supra. The Circuit Court was correct in reversing the Full Commission.

## ARGUMENT II

**THE RESPONDENT HAS SUFFERED A TOTAL LOSS OF EARNING CAPACITY NOTWITHSTANDING THE FINANCIAL SUPPORT OFFERED HIM BY HIS FAMILY FARM.**

The Full Commission affirmed the holding of the Hearing Commissioner that the Respondent has suffered a loss of earning capacity, notwithstanding the financial support offered him by his family farm. The Circuit Court affirmed the Commission on this point and denied the Appellants' appeal. The Circuit Court order holding that the Respondent suffered a complete loss of earning capacity should be affirmed.

The Commission correctly found the Respondent to be permanently and totally disabled in terms of performing his past job as a farmer/owner/operator of a farm supply and farming operation or of any other kind of job or gainful employment on a reliable sustained basis. In addition, the Commission also correctly concluded the Respondent is unable to perform the services other than those that are so limited in quality, dependability, and quantity that a reasonable stable market for them does not exist. Last, the Commission correctly found that the services that the Respondent performs for his family farm, given the accommodations his family has made to enable him to perform certain limited services, are not evidence that a reasonably stable market exists for the services the Respondent provides for the family farm. In so finding, the Commission found and concluded that the work offered by Respondent's family farm is sheltered employment and benevolent in nature.

The Appellants argue South Carolina law does not recognize the doctrine of sheltered or benevolent employment. The Appellants misapprehend the nature of the sheltered or benevolent employment doctrine. In applying the benevolent employer doctrine to the facts of this claim, the Commission was applying or extending longstanding South Carolina case law to the facts below.

To be totally disabled under the Act, the Respondent must be unable to perform services other than those that are so limited in quality, dependability or quantity that a reasonably stable

market for them does not exist. Eaddy v. Smurfit-Stone Container Corp., 355 S.C. 154, 584 S.E. 2d 390 (Ct. App. 2003). Total disability under the Workers' Compensation Act does not require complete, abject helplessness. McCollum v. Singer Co., 300 S.C. 103, 386 S.E. 2d 471 (Ct. App. 1989). South Carolina courts have held that the mere fact of employment is not necessarily evidence of earning capacity. Stephenson v. Rice Services, Inc., 323 S.C. 113, 473 S.E. 2d 699 (1996).

Evidence that a Respondent has been able to earn occasional wages or perform certain kinds of gainful work does not necessarily rule out a finding of total disability. McCollum v. Singer Co.; Stephenson v. Rice Services, Inc., *supra*. The Supreme Court pointed out in Stephenson v. Rice Services, Inc. that a person who becomes a paraplegic, as a result of a work-related accident, may recover for permanent and total disability under S. C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 yet continue to work. The Respondent, who has suffered physical brain damage as a result of a work-related accident, may likewise recover for permanent and total disability under S. C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 yet continue to work.

Because the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act was based on the North Carolina Act, the Commission and Circuit Court appropriately turned to North Carolina case law for guidance. See Nelson v. Yellow Cab Co., 349 S.C. 589, 564 S.E. 2d 110 (2002). Citing Peoples v. Cone Mills Corp., 316 N.C. 426, 342 S.E. 2d 798 (1986) the North Carolina Commission held "an injured employee's earning capacity must be measured not by the largesse of a particular employer, but by the employee's own ability to compete in the labor market. The fact that an employee is capable of performing employment tendered by employer is not, as a matter of law an indication of plaintiff's ability to earn wages." Saums v. Raleigh Community Hospital, 346 N.C. 760, 487 S.E. 2d 746 (1997).

The rationale behind the benevolent employment rule is simple: that the proffered employment would not accurately reflect earning capacity if other employers would not hire the employee with the employee's limitation at a comparable wage level. The same is true if the accommodations or modification of the job to meet the employee's limitations are not ordinarily found in the competitive job market. Simply put, if the Respondent does not have the ability to earn wages competitively, he will be left with no income should his job be terminated. Peoples v. Cone Mills Corp., *supra*. See also Baker v. Sam's Club, 589 S.E. 2d 387 (N.C. App. 2003).

The Appellants argue that the North Carolina cases are distinguishable because the injured claimants in the cases cited returned to work with the employer/defendant, whereas here, the Respondent never returned to work with the Appellant Kneece Farms. However, the issue is whether the Respondent's employment on his family farm subsequent to his injury is evidence of earning capacity. Although the Respondent regularly worked for Kneece Farms prior to his accident, he has not worked for the Appellant Kneece Farms since his injury, evidence in and of itself of the loss of earning capacity. The evidence of record below is that the Respondent is not employable outside the family farm and that the family would never hire a stranger with the Respondent's physical and mental impairments. The reliable, probative and substantial evidence below is capable of only the inference that the Respondent has suffered a total loss of earning capacity.

The benevolent employment doctrine as articulated by the Commission below is application of long-standing South Carolina law to the evidence of record. See McCollum v. Singer Co., *supra*; Stephenson v. Rice Services, Inc., *supra*. See also Lyles v. Quantum Chemical Co., 315 S.C. 440, 434 S.E. 2d 292 (Ct. App. 1993); Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc., *supra*.

The Appellants object to the Commission's application of the benevolent employment doctrine to the facts of this case because the family farm makes regular payment to the Respondent. The Appellants argue that because the amounts paid the Respondent meet or exceed the Respondent's wages prior to his workers' compensation injury, he has earning capacity and therefore Appellants argue that the benevolent employment doctrine is not applicable to the facts of this case.

The Appellants' argument overlooks the evidence of record that the services that the Respondent performs for his family farm, given the accommodations his family has made so as to enable the Respondent to perform certain limited tasks, are not evidence that a reasonably stable market exists for the services Respondent provides for the family farm. Dr. Stewart concluded that the Respondent suffered a total loss of earning capacity. Respondent's wife testified that the Respondent was not employable and that the Delano R. Kneece & Son, Inc. would not employ a stranger with the Respondent's disabilities. The Appellants also overlook the undisputed testimony of record that those amounts paid the Respondent by the family farm are not intended to represent wages earned and are not calculated on the basis of services performed by the Respondent on behalf of the family farm. Rather the amounts paid the Respondent are in the nature of a gift and do not constitute wages for work expended on behalf of the farm or wages calculated on the basis of productivity. The testimony of Respondent's wife, the family farm bookkeeper and treasurer, is undisputed on this point. Indeed, the Hearing Commissioner found the Respondent's wife to be a very credible witness who testified truthfully and accurately to the Respondent's physical and psychological limitations--testimony corroborated by the undisputed medical evidence of record. The Respondent's wife testified about the nature of the work the Respondent is able to perform and the fact that the family has

essentially kept him working because he is family. The Respondent's wife described the Respondent as a "shell" of his former self. The fact that the Respondent's family, through personal sacrifice and careful business practices, is able to afford to pay the Respondent any amount whatever is not evidence of the Respondent's earning capacity.

The Appellants argue that the payments made by the family farm to the Respondent must be in the nature of wages as opposed to a gift because he reports him on his income tax. The payments to the Respondent are taxable. However, this issue is not whether the payments made to the Respondent are wages. The issue is whether the Respondent has retained earning capacity. The undisputed evidence of record is that the Respondent's family is paying him out of love and affection and that the Respondent with his physical and mental limitations is not otherwise employable.

Last, the Appellants argue that in the event that the Commission's Order is allowed to stand, the Appellants should be entitled to a credit for the amount the Respondent receives from his employment from the family farm. The Appellants are entitled to no credit. The payments from the Delano R. Kneece and Son, Inc. family farm are a collateral source. This issue was decided in the 2005 Order and is the law of the case. See also McLeod v. South Carolina Insurance Company, 272 S.C. 254, 251 S.E.2d 193 (1979).

The Circuit Court was correct in affirming the Commission's findings of fact and conclusions of law with respect to the Respondent's total loss of earning capacity and should be affirmed.

### ARGUMENT III

**THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE RESPONDENT IS ENTITLED TO PAYMENT OF WEEKLY COMPENSATION FROM THE DATE OF THE 1999 ACCIDENT CONTINUING FOR LIFE AND THAT APPELLANTS HAD BEEN GIVEN ALL CREDITS TO WHICH THEY WERE ENTITLED.**

The Circuit Court correctly held that the Respondent was entitled to benefits under the Workers' Compensation Act for life. The Appellants misapprehend the nature of the award authorized by statute in this matter. In particular, the Respondent was entitled to an award of weekly permanent disability payments and all necessary medical treatment from the date of his accident for life.

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10(C) applies to the issue of lifetime benefits and provides as follows:

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